RECEIVED

Jan 22 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025-000624

West Street Farms, LLC, and Mix Farms, LLC..... Appellants,

v.

City of Beaufort, Beaufort Historic District Review
Board, and 303 Associates, LLC Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

/s/W. Andrew Gowder, Jr.
W. Andrew Gowder, Jr.
AUSTEN & GOWDER, LLC
1629 Meeting St Ste A
Charleston, SC 29405
Phone:(843) 727-2229
andy@austengowder.com

Counsel for Appellants

January 22, 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD'S PRELIMINARY APPROVAL WHEN THE BOARD LACKED JURISDICTION TO ACT WITHOUT A FINAL SPECIAL EXCEPTION FROM THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD'S DECISION WHEN THE PROJECT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS OF THE BEAUFORT CODE REGARDING LINER BUILDINGS AND ONSITE PARKING?
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DEFERRING TO THE HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD'S INTERPRETATION WHEN THE BOARD FAILED TO CONSIDER OR APPLY THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE BEAUFORT PRESERVATION MANUAL AND BEAUFORT CIVIC MASTER PLAN?
4. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANTS' APPEAL UNTIMELY WHEN THE HISTORIC DISTRICT REVIEW BOARD'S PRELIMINARY APPROVAL ADDRESSED SUBSTANTIVE COMPLIANCE ISSUES THAT WERE DISTINCT FROM THE CONCEPTUAL APPROVAL OF BASIC MASSING?
5. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN APPLYING PRINCIPLES OF MOOTNESS WHEN APPELLANTS' CHALLENGE TO THE PRELIMINARY APPROVAL RAISED ONGOING LEGAL VIOLATIONS THAT PERSIST REGARDLESS OF SUBSEQUENT FINAL APPROVAL?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from the circuit court's denial of the Appellants' petition challenging the December 8, 2021, preliminary approval by the City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board ("HRB") of a three-story apartment and commercial building project at 211 Charles Street ("Project").

Appellants West Street Farms, LLC, and Mix Farms, LLC, are property owners within the historic district who filed their petition on January 7, 2022 (R. pp. 016-022), within thirty days of the HRB's decision on December 8, 2021. After the circuit court initially denied the appeal with a Form 4 Order on August 29, 2023 (R. pp. 001-003), Appellants submitted a Motion to Reconsider on September 8, 2023 (R. pp. 081-083), seeking a ruling on the merits to preserve issues for appellate review.

On March 5, 2025, the circuit court granted the Motion to Reconsider for the limited purpose of issuing a detailed order denying the appeal on multiple grounds, including timeliness, mootness, and the merits (R. pp. 004-015). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a decision by a board of architectural review, the circuit court should act when the board abuses its discretion by committing errors of law or bases its decision on findings of fact that are not supported by the evidence. *Blind Tiger, LLC v. City of Charleston*, 366 S.C. 182, 185, 621 S.E.2d 361, 362 (Ct. App. 2005), citing *Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 486, 454 S.E.2d 912, 915 (Ct. App. 1995). Furthermore, the appellate court's standard of review of a board of architectural review's decision is the same as that of the trial court. *Blind Tiger, LLC*, 621 S.E. 2d at 362, citing *Fairfield Ocean Ridge, Inc. v. Town of Edisto Beach*, 294 S.C. 475, 479-80, 366 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding the appellate court will not reverse the circuit court's affirmance of the board unless the board's findings of fact have no evidentiary support or the board commits an error of law).

FACTS

A. The Project and Regulatory Framework

303 Associates, LLC sought approval for a three-story apartment and commercial building at 211 Charles Street in Beaufort's Historic District (the "Project"). The Project required both a Special Exception from the Zoning Board of Appeals ("ZBOA") for Large Footprint Buildings under Beaufort Code Section 4.5.10(B)(5), and review by the HRB under the city's historic preservation ordinances.

The Project was described in the application as "CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW 3-STORY BUILDING TO HOUSE APARTMENTS WITH SOME COMMERCIAL SPACE ON THE FIRST FLOOR FACING CHARLES STREET." (R. p. 383). The Project covered 27,500 square feet

across three floors: 9,311 SF on the first floor, 9,109 SF on the second, and 9,130 SF on the third. (R. p. 383).

B. The HRB Approval Process

The HRB follows a three-stage process: conceptual approval, preliminary approval, and final approval. The HRB granted conceptual approval on February 10, 2021, addressing basic massing concepts. On December 8, 2021, the HRB granted preliminary approval, which Appellants timely appealed on January 7, 2022.

The February 2021 conceptual approval included thirteen detailed staff conditions that addressed fundamental design issues, including parking requirements, building types, frontage compliance, roof design complexity, and compliance with the preservation manual. (R. pp. 378-380). The staff explicitly noted that "this building contains two different building types" and required detailed compliance demonstrations for future applications. (R. p. 378)

C. Jurisdictional Issues

At the time of the HRB's preliminary approval on December 8, 2021, the required Special Exception from the ZBOA had not been issued because it was pending a decision in Case No. 2021-CP-07-01639. (R. p. 181). Cynthia Jenkins, a representative of the Historic Beaufort Foundation, informed the Board that "there are two pending appeals to Circuit Court involving the decision of the Zoning Board of Adjustment of this City, and there's not been a court date set." (R. p. 181). Property owner Graham Trask stated, "You were not informed that the Zoning Board of Appeals decision is being appealed," and questioned why staff did not inform the Board of this important jurisdictional issue. (R. p. 201). The application form specifically required disclosure of any restrictions, but the pending appeal status was not accurately communicated to the Board. (R. p. 382).

The HRB still granted preliminary approval without resolving this jurisdictional requirement, even though staff acknowledged that the project needed ZBOA approval as a Large Footprint Building. (R. p. 148).

D. Code Violations

The preliminary approval violated multiple provisions of the Beaufort Code, as documented in the hearing record:

Liner Buildings (Section 4.5.9): Mr. Trask testified that "if it's a mixed use live/work, the zoning Code requires liner buildings, there's no liner building here." (R. p. 185). While staff claimed an exception applied, the record lacks evidence that the Project provides the minimum 40% clear and unobstructed glazing required for the exception. (R. p. 230).

Onsite Parking (Section 4.5.10): Mr. Trask specifically cited the code requirement that "specific to T4 and T5, a minimum of 75 percent of all parking should be located behind the primary building or a liner building" and noted "Does this design have that? No." (R. p. 202). The Project provides no on-site parking, despite this being a mandatory requirement.

Preservation Standards: Historic Beaufort Foundation representative Lise Sundrla testified that the Project violates the Beaufort Preservation Manual requirement that "new construction in Beaufort must go beyond the aspect of form follows function and blend harmoniously with the fabric of the town." (R. p. 196). She further noted that the Beaufort Code requires that "new construction should complement the massing of neighboring buildings" and that when "large scale construction is proposed that is not consistent with the predominant building height and lot width of the surrounding area, special attention shall be paid to specific building design elements." (R. pp. 196-197).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD'S PRELIMINARY APPROVAL WHEN THE BOARD LACKED JURISDICTION TO ACT WITHOUT A FINAL SPECIAL EXCEPTION FROM THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS.

The Beaufort Code requires Large Footprint Buildings to obtain a Special Exception under Section 4.5.10(B)(5). (R. p. 148). 1 When the HRB granted preliminary approval on December 8, 2021, no final Special Exception was in place because the ZBOA's decision was under appeal to the Circuit Court. 2 Ms. Jenkins specifically informed the Board that "there are two pending appeals to Circuit Court involving the decision of the Zoning Board of Adjustment of this City, and there has not been a court date set." (R. p. 181).

Mr. Trask asked why the Board was not properly informed: "Are you aware of that? You probably are from the press, but why not from staff? Does it raise a question in your mind?" (R. pp. 201-202). This pattern of "mission omission" by staff, as Mr. Trask called it, deprived the Board of essential jurisdictional information needed for its decision. (R. p. 201).

While the circuit court argued that administrative proceedings can occur simultaneously, this overlooks a key point: the HRB cannot grant preliminary approval for a project that lacks the necessary underlying zoning authorization. The Special Exception is not just administrative; it defines the legal zoning framework within which the HRB must operate. At the time the HRB issued this preliminary approval, it lacked the jurisdiction to do so because the property was not properly zoned. For these reasons, and primarily, the circuit court's decision and the HRB's preliminary approval must be reversed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD'S DECISION WHEN THE PROJECT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS OF THE BEAUFORT CODE REGARDING LINER BUILDINGS AND ONSITE PARKING.

A. There is no evidence in the record that the applicant satisfied the Liner Building requirements.

Mr. Trask testified that the mixed-use classification requires linear buildings: "If it's a mixed-use live/work, the zoning Code requires linear buildings; there's no linear building here." (R. p. 185). While staff claimed Section 4.5.10.B.2.A provides an exception when buildings provide primary street entry and 40% clear glazing, (R. p. 230), the record contains no evidence that the HRB made specific findings regarding glazing percentages or that the Project meets the 40% threshold.

The staff presentation materials depict the project location context, highlighting the mixed-use nature of the surrounding Charles Street corridor that activates liner building requirements. (R. pp. 386-387). The submitted architectural drawings show commercial space "ON THE FIRST FLOOR FACING CHARLES STREET" without the necessary liner building configuration. (R. p. 383).

B. There is no evidence in the record that the applicant satisfied the parking requirements.

Mr. Trask specifically cited the mandatory parking placement requirement: "specific to T4 and T5, a minimum of 75 percent of all parking should be located behind the primary building or a liner building. Does this design have that? No." (R. p. 202). He questioned why staff failed to address this clear code violation: "Why doesn't city staff bring that up? It's mission omission." (R. p. 202).

The Project has no onsite parking spaces. The HRB's view that this requirement doesn't apply when no parking is provided makes the provision meaningless. It conflicts with the code's plain language, which requires designated parking for Large Footprint Buildings.

The preliminary application included a "REMOTE PARKING DIAGRAM" showing 34 designated spaces within 400 feet of the site, but this remote parking arrangement fails to meet the code's specific requirement that "a minimum of 75 percent of all parking should be located behind the primary building or a liner building." (R. p. 385). The applicant's parking diagram indicates zero on-site parking spaces, despite the Large Footprint Building requirements. (R. p. 385).

C. Neither the applicant nor the City staff attempted to demonstrate that the application complied with the Preservation Manual as required by City Code.

Ms. Sundrla testified that the Project violates fundamental preservation principles. She cited the Beaufort Preservation Manual's requirement that "new construction in Beaufort must go beyond the aspect of form follows function and blend harmoniously with the fabric of the town." (R. p. 196). She further noted that Beaufort Code Section 4.3.2.C requires that "new construction should complement the massing of neighboring buildings" and that when "large scale construction is proposed that is not consistent with the predominant building height and lot width of the surrounding area, special attention shall be paid to specific building design elements in order to articulate a building form that is appropriate to the neighborhood context." (R. pp. 196-197).

Ms. Sundrla demonstrated through visual evidence that "the mass and scale of this structure is the dominant, the dominant structure that—over all of the other buildings" in the streetscape. (R. p. 198). The record shows the HRB made no meaningful findings addressing these mandatory compatibility standards.

In reviewing the issuance of the preliminary injunction by the HRB, the circuit court found no substantial evidence in the record to support the Board's decision. This Court must reverse the decision of the circuit court for failing to hold this architectural review board to the standard required by state law, which mandates basing its decisions and actions on substantial evidence in the record before it.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DEFERRING TO THE HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD'S INTERPRETATION WHEN THE BOARD FAILED TO CONSIDER OR APPLY THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE BEAUFORT PRESERVATION MANUAL AND BEAUFORT CIVIC MASTER PLAN.

The circuit court's complete deference to the HRB's interpretations exceeds the limits of proper judicial review. The hearing record shows that the HRB did not follow mandatory code provisions and preservation standards.

A. The Board Failed to Apply Preservation Manual Requirements

Ms. Jenkins testified that "in the entire staff report, the only reference used was the city Code. There was one reference to the preservation manual, which this Board is charged with carefully analyzing." (R. p. 185). This failure to apply the Preservation Manual requirements constitutes an error of law requiring reversal.

B. The Board Interpreted the Code Inconsistently.

The record shows staff provided inconsistent interpretations of critical code requirements. While initially acknowledging parking requirements, staff later tried to bypass them entirely. Mr. Trask noted this pattern: "mission omission," where "they have continued to omit things which...is tantamount to lying." (R. p. 201).

C. The City HRB Staff Acknowledged Code Violations.

Even city staff acknowledged certain code violations during the hearing. Staff condition No. 1 required material changes to distinguish the building entrance, recognizing design flaws. (R. p. 425). Staff condition No. 3 prohibited cannon motifs as creating "a false sense of history on the project site." (R. p. 177).

D. Members of the Board Recognized Problems With the Application.

Multiple board members expressed concerns about code compliance during deliberations. Board member Lutz stated, "I'm not comfortable going for final because of the appeals that still exist," and noted, "This is a controversial project. It's a big box." (R. p. 227). Board member Prentice emphasized

the need to "control the things that are going to happen" with residential balconies in the historic district. (R. pp. 295-296).

The HRB's failure to make specific findings regarding compliance with mandatory code provisions, combined with the documented pattern of staff "mission omission," constitutes an error of law that warrants reversal, not deference.

E. City Staff Acknowledged Beaufort Code Violations

The staff's materials show awareness of code compliance issues. The decision letter from conceptual approval required future applications to address parking requirements, building type compliance, and preservation manual standards. (R. pp. 378-380). The architect's November 2021 submission noted "Lowered total building height an additional 1' (now 3'4" lower than previously approved submittal)" and included transparency diagrams, indicating ongoing code compliance challenges. (R. p. 384).

The project context photographs in the staff presentation illustrate the size and character of the surrounding historic streetscape, providing visual evidence of the compatibility issues raised by community members. (R. pp. 377, 386). The architectural drawings depict a building mass that greatly exceeds the scale of neighboring historic structures visible in the context photographs. (R. pp. 377, 392-393).

For all these reasons, the Board acted arbitrarily and capriciously, issuing this preliminary approval without evidence. The circuit court erred in relying on this decision without a factual basis, and its affirmation of the approval must be reversed.

IV. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANTS' APPEAL UNTIMELY WHEN THE HISTORIC DISTRICT REVIEW BOARD'S PRELIMINARY APPROVAL ADDRESSED SUBSTANTIVE COMPLIANCE ISSUES THAT WERE DISTINCT FROM THE CONCEPTUAL APPROVAL OF BASIC MASSING?

The circuit court fundamentally mischaracterized the nature of Appellants' challenge. The December 8, 2021, preliminary approval involved distinct determinations separate from the February 10, 2021, conceptual approval, as the hearing record establishes. A conceptual approval is a distinctly different process and decision by a board than a preliminary approval, as the record indicates. A conceptual approval, as its name suggests, is a high-level, general submission that lacks the detailed requirements of a preliminary approval. Therefore, each is a distinct action by the board, and each may, but need not, be appealed separately based on the nature and content of the decision made in each instance.

Here, the conceptual approval only addressed basic massing concepts, as confirmed by staff testimony. (R. p. 148). However, the preliminary approval process involved detailed compliance determinations with specific code requirements, as evidenced by:

Detailed Staff Conditions: The preliminary approval came with eight specific staff conditions addressing technical compliance issues, including column specifications, material details, awning specifications, and drainage elements. (R. pp. 424-425).

Code Compliance Analysis: Staff acknowledged that preliminary approval required detailed analysis of frontage types, transparency ratios, ceiling height deviations, and column material approvals—none of which were addressed at the conceptual stage. (R. pp. 170-177).

Board Recognition of Distinct Review: Board members acknowledged they were reviewing different issues than at the conceptual stage. Board member Lutz noted the importance of examining "the position of the old board" since "four of you weren't involved in that decision making process." (R. p. 192). This confirms that preliminary approval involved substantive new determinations.

Preservation Manual Compliance: The hearing record shows that compliance with the preservation manual—key to the Appellants' challenge—was not sufficiently addressed until the

preliminary review. Ms. Jenkins stated that "in the entire staff report, the only reference used was the city Code. There was one reference to the preservation manual." (R. p. 185).

The conceptual approval conditions specifically required the applicant to "demonstrate that the proposed development meets the bicycle and motor vehicle parking requirements" and to show compliance with multiple code sections not previously analyzed. (R. p. 378). The preliminary approval process involved detailed staff analysis of transparency ratios, ceiling height deviations, and material specifications—technical compliance issues separate from the basic massing concepts addressed at the conceptual stage. (R. pp. 378-380).

The circuit court's interpretation would effectively remove the opportunity for meaningful appellate review of preliminary approvals, as any significant issue could be considered to have been "conceptually approved" earlier on. This conflicts with the purpose of the stepped approval process, which is designed to include separate reviews at each stage, as shown by the detailed conditions set during preliminary approval. (R. pp. 424-425).

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in establishing this reasoning as a bar to the Appellants seeking review of the incorrect decision by the Board in issuing the preliminary injunction, based on all the reasons outlined in this brief. The Appellants waived nothing by not appealing the conceptual approval of generalized massing concepts and waiting until they saw (or did not see, since they were not submitted) the more detailed application at the preliminary injunction stage. This Court should overturn this holding by the circuit court as a legal error.

V. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN APPLYING PRINCIPLES OF MOOTNESS WHEN APPELLANTS' CHALLENGE TO THE PRELIMINARY APPROVAL RAISED ONGOING LEGAL VIOLATIONS THAT PERSIST REGARDLESS OF SUBSEQUENT FINAL APPROVAL?

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