RECEIVED

Oct 13 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000624

West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLC, Appellants,

v.

City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic Review Board, and
303 Associates, LLC Respondents.

[INITIAL] JOINT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Benjamin E. Nicholson, V
(SC Bar No. 10137)
BURR & FORMAN, LLP
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-799-9800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
303 ASSOCIATES, LLC

Virginia P. Bozeman (SC Bar No. 104939)
Alexis K. Lindsay (SC Bar No. 78049)
Pope Flynn, LLC

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

Moreover, Appellants fail to identify *why* the Circuit Court is wrong in its opinion. Their argument seems to be centered on a claimed failure to communicate the pendency of an appeal on the

special exception to the HRB. (R. ___; Appellants' Brief, pp. 3, 5.) However, there is no argument that the Circuit Court was wrong in its reasoning. Thus, Appellants have effectively abandoned the argument. *Mead v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 125, 139, 796 S.E.2d 165, 172–73 (Ct. App. 2016) ("When an appellant provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court can decline to address the merits of the issue."); *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) ("[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review."); *Taylor v. Taylor*, 294 S.C. 296, 299, 363 S.E.2d 909, 911 (Ct. App. 1987).

The Circuit Court must be affirmed and Appellants' arguments rejected on this basis.

II. THE APPELLANTS ARE COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED FROM CLAIMING THAT THE ZBOA MUST HEAR A SPECIAL EXCEPTION BEFORE THE HRB MAKES A DECISION ON AN APPROVAL.

The Circuit Court found as an additional sustaining ground for its opinion that the Appellants were collaterally estopped from arguing that the HRB did not have jurisdiction to make a decision before the ZBOA granted a Special Exception.

Footnote 2 in the Order stated: "As an additional sustaining ground, the Appellants litigated and lost the same issue in the prior case referenced in footnote 1, *supra*, so they are collaterally estopped from re-litigating that issue in their present appeal." (R. ___; Order, p. 11, n. 2.) Footnote

1 referred to in Footnote 2 stated:

The question of whether the Beaufort Code required the Petitioners to appeal the initial Conceptual Approval of height, mass, and scale was decided against the Petitioners in a prior state court lawsuit and affirmed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals following this Court's entry of a Form 4 Order denying Petitioner's present appeal. *See Historic Beaufort Foundation v. City of Beaufort, et al*, Unpublished Opinion No. 2024-UP-372, filed October 30, 2024. Thus, as an additional sustaining ground, the Petitioners are collaterally estopped from relitigating that issue now. *See Richburg v. Baughman*, 290 S.C. 431, 351 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1986).

(R. __; Order, p. 6, n. 1.) The Supreme Court denied cert on this case as well.

The Circuit Court in Appellate Case No. 2022-000300 (in which Opinion 2024-UP-372 was issued), expressly rejected Appellants' argument that the HRB lacked jurisdiction to consider a COA application because 303 Associates/Beaufort Inn did not obtain a Special Exception or Variance from the ZBOA first. (R. __.) The same issue was before the same parties in a different proceeding. As noted by the Circuit Court, Appellants are collaterally estopped from make their arguments as they had lost them before in another proceeding. (R.__).

However, Appellants never attack the propriety of this additional sustaining grounds. By failing to do so, they have abandoned any argument. Appellants have not presented this Court with any law or argument explaining why the holdings set forth in the Circuit Court's Order were incorrect, so they have waived their ability to challenge the legal basis for the Order on appeal. As noted by this Court:

Additionally, “[a]n issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.” *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008). “[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.” *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001). When a party provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court will not address the merits of the issue. *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011).

Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel, 422 S.C. 499, 505-06, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018). In particular, the failure to cite legal authority is often cited as an abandonment of an issue on appeal. *See also Palmer v. State*, 427 S.C. 36, 47, 829 S.E.2d 255, 261 (Ct. App. 2019); *Mead v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 125, 139, 796 S.E.2d 165, 172-73 (Ct. App. 2016); and *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, Appellants have abandoned

any attempted appeal of the issues decided by the Court, and this Court must affirm the judgment on this basis. *See Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 344, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 fn. 3 (2003).

Further, Appellants failure to appeal any additional sustaining grounds means the unchallenged grounds becomes the law of the case, and the Circuit Court must be affirmed. An “unappealed ruling is the law of the case.” *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997). *See also, Kreutner v. David*, 320 S.C. 283, 286, 465 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1995) (“This Court may affirm, however, for any reason appearing in the record. Rule 220(c), SCACR.”)

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE HRB PROPERLY INTERPRETED THE BEAUFORT CODE AS TO LINEAR BUILDING, ONSITE PARKING AND USE OF THE HISTORIC PRESERVATION MANUAL REQUIREMENTS.

The Appellants, in a recurring theme, claim that the HRB misapplied the Code with respect to the linear feet requirement and onsite parking by citing to testimony from (1) their own witness or (2) one hostile HRB member on the HRB at that time (Maxine Lutz) whose vote did not constitute part of the majority. (R. ___; Appellants’ Brief, pp. 6-7.) However, the Circuit Court properly disposed of these arguments by affirming the reasoning of the HRB:

The Petitioners challenge only the height, mass, and scale of the Apartment Project, which was not a listed discussion item at the HRB meeting on December 8, 2021 because those matters had already been approved at the Conceptual Approval stage. Regardless, there is clear evidence in the record to support the HRB’s decision. A court may not reverse the finding of the HRB unless the [HRB’s] findings of fact have no evidentiary support or the [HRB] commits an error of law. *Gurganiou v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 487, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995). “A court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision.” *Furr v. Horry Cnty. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 411 S.C. 178, 184, 767 S.E.2d 221, 224 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *Clear Channel Outdoor v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 372 S.C. 230, 234, 642 S.E.2d 565 (2007)). “The party challenging a governmental body’s decision bears the burden of proving the decision is arbitrary.” *Pressley v. Lancaster Cnty.*, 343 S.C. 696, 704, 542 S.E.2d 366, 370 (Ct. App. 2001).

1. The Petitioners' Liner Building Claim Is Wrong.

Petitioners contend that Section 4.5.9 of the Beaufort Code requires a Liner Building between a large footprint building, or a building with a frontage of over 100-feet that is held to the same standards as a large footprint building, and primary street frontage. However, Section 4.5.10.B.2 provides an exception, and liners are not required when a large footprint building provides an entry on the primary street frontage and a minimum of 40% clear and unobstructed glazing along that street. Petitioners also claim there was not 40% clear and unobstructed glazing along Port Republic or Charles Street. However, the HRB specifically granted approval of the glazing.

The decisions of the HRB on these issues are clearly within the discretionary authority of the HRB. What is or is not sufficient glazing is a discretionary call for the HRB that this Court cannot second guess. Petitioners fail to meet their burden. They do not argue that the HRB's decision was arbitrary; rather, they generally disagree with prior HRB decisions that were not challenged. Thus, the HRB decision is affirmed.

2. The Petitioners Misstate the Parking Requirements.

With respect to the standards applicable to large footprint buildings, Beaufort Code Section 4.5.10.B.7.a provides that in T5 districts “[a] minimum of 75% of all parking shall be located behind the primary building or a Liner Building.” The HRB agreed this means 75% of parking proposed on the development site must be behind a primary or liner building that is also on the development site. In 303 Associates' application, there were no parking spaces proposed to be located on the Apartment Project site. Accordingly, this standard does not apply, and Petitioners' argument to the contrary lacks merit.

Again, this is a discretionary decision of the HRB as to how the Beaufort Code applies. The Court of Appeals has stated: “We give great deference to the decisions of those charged with interpreting and applying local zoning ordinances.” *Gurganious*, 317 S.C. at 487. “The Board[s] ... construction of its own ordinance, the enforcement of which it is charged with, should be given some consideration and not overruled without cogent reason therefor.” *Boehm v. Town of Sullivan's Island Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 423 S.C. 169, 184, 813 S.E.2d 874, 881 (Ct. App. 2018), quoting *Purdy v. Moise*, 223 S.C. 298, 304-05, 75 S.E.2d 605, 608 (1953).

It is a well-settled proposition of zoning law that a court will not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the board. The court may not feel that the decision of the board was the best that could have been rendered under the circumstances. It may thoroughly disagree with the reasoning by which the board reached its decision. It may feel that the decision of the board was a substandard piece of logic and thinking. Nonetheless, the court will not set

aside the board's view of the matter just to inject its own ideas into the picture of things.

Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry Cnty., 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999), quoting *Talbot v. Myrtle Beach Bd. of Adjustment*, 222 S.C. 165, 173, 72 S.E.2d 66, 70 (1952).

(R. ___; Order, pp. 7-9.)

Appellants cite cherry picked witness testimony that the HRB was misapplying the Beaufort Code, but they do not actually argue *why* the HRB and the Circuit Court in affirming the HRB were wrong. As conceded by the Appellants, HRB staff supported manner in which the HRB applied the Beaufort Code to this specific factual situation. The best Appellants can presently do is argue that the HRB did not make specific findings with respect to these issues, (*see* R. ___; Appellants' Brief, p. 6), but the HRB is not required by law to make such express findings, and the Appellants have failed to cite any law to the contrary. *See e.g., Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 606 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 2004).

Further, the Appellants complain that the HRB did not strictly comply with the Historic Preservation Manual. (R. ___; Appellants' Brief, pp. 7-8.) Again, the Circuit Court easily disposed of this argument:

The Petitioners generally complain that the HRB's Preliminary Approval of the Apartment Project does not comply with requirements of the Beaufort Preservation Manual. The Petitioners then go on to compare the size and scale of the Apartment Project to other structures in the Historic District and at times cite provisions of the City's Master Plan.

However, in all cases with respect to these guidelines, the HRB's interpretations of these *suggestive* rules are a part of the HRB's subjective and discretionary role in enforcing generalized standards. The record shows the Apartment Project was compliant with all size, mass, and scale requirements. As there are no express statutory lines that the HRB must follow when interpreting the Preservation Manual and the Master Plan. Instead, the HRB is charged with making a decision that reflects the intent behind these guidelines, and it did just that. This Court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the HRB, and there is nothing arbitrary or capricious

about the HRB decision on appeal that would require the Court to reverse the decision on the basis it did not comply with the City's Preservation Manual and Master Plan. For this reason, too, the HRB's decision is affirmed and Petitioner's Appeal is denied.

(R. __; Order, pp. 9-10.) The gist of Appellants' complaints are that the HRB did not closely enough follow the Manual. As noted by the Circuit Court, such subjective interpretations are exactly what an HRB is supposed to do, and their reasoning cannot be attacked on appeal. "A court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision." *Furr v. Horry Cnty. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 767 S.E.2d 221 at 224.

The Appellants have not demonstrated that the HRB's decision was arbitrary, and thus it may not be set aside. *Helicopter Sols., Inc. v. Hinde*, 776 S.E.2d at 757.

IV. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE DECISION OF THE HRB.

Most of Appellants' arguments relate to the alleged lack of evidence in the HRB record supporting the HRB decisions now pending on appeal. Not only are these arguments inconsistent with the record itself, but these arguments are inconsistent with the statements made by Appellants to this Court. Indeed, Appellants in their Brief concede that the HRB considered conflicting evidence on the precise issues on which they complain, linear buildings (*see* Appellants' Brief, p. 6); parking (*see* R. __; Appellants' Brief, pp. 6-7); and failure to comply with the Preservation Manual (*see* R. __; Appellants' Brief, pp. 7-8, 11). Appellants admit the HRB considered conflicting evidence on the matters; they simply do not like the manner in which the HRB interpreted that evidence, applied the Code, and ultimately ruled. (R.) Thus, the HRB's decision may not be overturned.

It is well established that a court may not reverse the finding of the HRB unless the [HRB's] findings of fact have no evidentiary support or the [HRB] commits an error of law. *Gurganious v.*

City of Beaufort, 454 S.E.2d 912 at 916. That is clearly not the case here, and Appellants have not made anything more than an unsupported conclusory argument to the contrary.

V. MANY OF THE APPELLANTS' ARGUMENTS MAY NOT NOW BE RAISED BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT RAISED BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT.

It is axiomatic that a litigant is required to raise an issue fairly to the trial court, thereby giving the trial court an opportunity to rule on the issue. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595-96 (2010); *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 208, 712 S.E. 2d 428, 433 (2011); and *Hubbard v. Rowe*, 192 S.C. 12, 5 S.E.2d 187, 189 (1939) (requiring that the party bringing an issue before the appellate court must first bring it to the attention of the lower court for issue preservation purposes). Where a party raises an issue, but the issue is never ruled on by the trial court and the party fails to file a motion to alter or amend, the issue is not preserved. *Summersell v. S.C. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 337 S.C. 19, 22, 522 S.E.2d 144, 145-46 (1999).

First, Appellants *for the first time* argue that the Circuit Court erred in its decision that their appeal was too late because the conceptual approval and preliminary approval processes are substantively different. Appellants reason that the conceptual approval thus could not be used as a basis to claim that the issues in the preliminary approval should have been appealed earlier. (R. __; Appellants' Brief, pp. 10-11.) However, there is nothing in Appellants' Petition or Motion to Reconsider to the Circuit Court that discusses this point.⁷ Thus, Appellants may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *State v. Brannon*, *supra*.

Second, Appellants for the first time argue that the issuance of a "preliminary approval" (at times incorrectly called "preliminary injunction") was a continuing violation of the Code. (R. __;

⁷Appellants did not file a Memorandum in Support of their Appeal before the trial court.

Appellants' Brief, p. 12.) Again, this issue was never raised before the Circuit Court and cannot now be argued. *State v. Brannon, supra*.

Third, Appellants discussion of "a pattern of procedural violations by the Applicant and Staff" was not raised before the Circuit Court. (R. __; Appellants' Brief, pp. 12-13.) Its appeal on that issue is thus barred. *State v. Brannon, supra*. It is a wholly irrelevant and conclusory argument as well. *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 557 S.E.2d at 691.

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